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SOURCE: UC Regents, 1934

Figure 10
Aerial view of campus in 1934By the mid-1930s, the school’s notable farming program came to an end.

In 1933, the Inglewood High School Farm’s agricultural grounds were proposed to be converted into an
athletic field which would allow students greater opportunity for outdoor activities that were not possible
on the main campus’ then-current athletic grounds.®' The land would become Sentinel Field and later
Caroline Coleman Stadium.

1940s - The closure of the school farm allowed for a significant change in the school’s vocational
curriculum, which for decades had strongly reflected its surrounding agricultural industry. The Inglewood
area’s shift from agriculture to the aerospace and defense industry was fueled by the development of the
nearby Mines Field which would later become the Los Angeles International Airport (LAX), and the
development of the U. S. Air Force’s Space and Missile Program in Inglewood. This rapid change was

81 “Inglewood,” Los Angeles Times, December 31, 1933: 100.
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reflected in IHS’ campus development and academic offerings throughout the 1940s and into the post-
World War II development boom.

In the fall of 1940, the “Inglewood adult education center and evening high school” opened for adult night
school courses at the IHS campus.*® In addition to science and arts courses, a substantial portion of the
adult education center’s offerings included courses in cooperation with the state and national defense
program, including pre-employment courses, wood pattern making, plaster pattern making, and machine
shop courses. Additional supplementary trade courses included elementary template layout and lofting,
advanced aircraft lofting, aircraft sheet metal layout, and aircraft welding.®> WPA workers were able to
take advantage of such vocational training courses at IHS, having been selected for their “aptitude and
ability to be trained for national defense.”® Similarly, 33 other high schools in Southern California had
defense training programs in place during this time. By early 1941, enrollment in the defense training
programs at the IHS campus totaled approximately 1,200 students, notably with class offerings including
machine shop and sheet metal working.** Updates to unspecified campus buildings included the
installation of approximately $200,000 worth of machine tools, lathes, and welding equipment for defense
industry training.®® Two buildings, Building J, Classroom Building K, Shop and were constructed in 1941
and 1942, respectively, to designs by architect John C. Austin. The modest building designs reflect the
Industrial Utilitarian style.

After the United States entered into World War Il in December 1941, industry in Inglewood was
markedly dominated by production plants, aerospace manufacturing, and associated support activities. On
the home front, IHS offered opportunities for adult education training, including vocational courses such
as architectural, aeronautical, and mechanical drafting, blueprint reading, carpentry, machine shop, and
welding.®” A canning center was established on the campus in 1945, which operated on a 12-hour
schedule in which more than 1,000 women attended instructional sessions in order to use the campus’
canning facilities.® In 1945, a substantial campus expansion and building program for both IHS and
nearby Leuzinger High School valued at over $2,075,000 was proposed.® Campus development from this
period included the construction of a two-story 24,000 square foot shop building, Building M, which was
to be used for classroom space. In August of 1945, Building M was approved for construction by the
Civilian Production Administration (CPA). The CPA absorbed the functions of the War Production Board
(WPB), which was a federal wartime government agency established to oversee and coordinate American
industry to wartime production during World War 11.”° The WPB monitored the construction of factories
that produced essential war materials, ultimately contributing to the efficiency of postwar economic
reconversion.”!

82 «pre-Registration at Inglewood Night School Begins Tuesday, Sept 3,” The Daily Breeze, August 29, 1940.

8 “Pre-Registration at Inglewood Night School Begins Tuesday, Sept 3,” The Daily Breeze, August 29, 1940.

84 «“WPA Workers Enrolled in Defense Training,” Eastside Journal, September 26, 1940.
8 “Former Redondo Man Gets Big Inglewood Job,” The Daily Breeze, March 4, 1941.
86 «School Defense Head Appointed,” Los Angeles Times, March 4, 1941.

87 «Adult Education Classes Open at Inglewood High,” The Daily Breeze, September 18, 1946: 2.

8 Marian Manners, “Need for Home Canning Especially Vital This Year,” Los Angeles Times, May 20, 1945: 47.

8 “New School Heads Confer at Inglewood,” Los Angeles Times, July 20, 1945: 12.

% Aaron D. Purcell, “War Production Board,” EBSCO website, https://www.ebsco.com/research-starters/military-history-and-science/war-

production-board.

91 Aaron D. Purcell, “War Production Board,” EBSCO website, https://www.ebsco.com/research-starters/military-history-and-science/war-

production-board.
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With the war ending in September of 1945, Inglewood became fueled by postwar prosperity and
experienced rapid suburban growth, marked by commercial, civic, and residential development. Postwar
IHS campus development included significant expansion efforts that required demolishing the remaining
original 1907-1925 Classical Revival-style buildings (except for Building A) to make space for the
construction of modern educational buildings.”

Campus development in the late 1940s included the construction of the one-story, roughly 3,360-square-
foot automobile shop Building L. Initially referred to as “Auto Shop ‘Unit Q’,” the 1948 plans for
Building L indicate that its entrance and orientation were designed to line up with those of existing
Building M, next door. As originally designed by master architect Henry L. Gogerty, Building L included
a tool room and office within the smaller one-story room, a cast stone wash sink, two roll-up garage
doors, and an open space dedicated to the following: work area, engine area, machine area, and
instruction area. A smaller room located adjacent to the arcade was to be used for athletic equipment. The
1948 plan notes suggest that a covered open-air arcade was planned to connect Buildings L. and M, while
other plans indicate that a further arcade extension beyond Building L was considered for a later date. The
building’s 1949 plumbing plans included three additional “future shops,” similarly rectangular in
footprint, which were to be attached to the west of Building L, the Auto Shop, yet these were never
constructed.

As portions of original early 20" century IHS campus were demolished in a piecemeal fashion following
the 1933 Long Beach earthquake, the campus was subsequently slowly redeveloped over time with
limited efforts in the 1930s and 40s, followed by more rapid infill redevelopment resuming after the war.
In 1947, demolition began for the former 1914 science building that was damaged in the earthquake,
which was to make space for new classroom buildings that would open in the years that followed.”> Most
of the new IHS buildings constructed in the postwar period were designed by architect Henry L. Gogerty
in a variety of modern architectural styles, including Industrial Utilitarian, Late Moderne, and Mid-
Century Modern styles. Master architect Gogerty was well-known for his elaborate Mid-Century Modern
campus master plans for new southern California schools; however, no master plan was located for the
mid-century redevelopment of the [HS campus. Campus upgrades to bring modern cohesion to the school
during this period included new flagpoles, an arcade entrance with signage along S. Grevillea Avenue,
planters, landscaping, and covered walkways.

In 1948, the construction of the two-story shop classroom Building M was finalized. The building
included instructional rooms for drawing and drafting, woodworking shop spaces, assembly areas,
lumber/tool rooms, and a finishing room.”* The following year, a new one-story automobile shop building
was constructed (Building L, Auto Shop), to the immediate west of Building M. These two industrial
shop buildings were designed by master architect Henry L. Gogerty, share site and building character-
defining features, and were situated along Manchester Avenue, offering direct street access to the
thoroughfare. Additional new postwar development between the late 1940s through the 1950s included:
Building C, Classroom (1948); Building R, Auditorium (1949); Building O, Locker Building (1949);

%2 “Architect Retained by School Board,” Los Angeles Times, January 25, 1945: 12; and “Classroom Addition,” Inglewood High School,
Architectural Drawings, November 14, 1941.

% “Inglewood High Building Doomed for New Structure,” Los Angeles Times, September 28, 1947: 9.
94 «Shop Building Plan Approved,” Los Angeles Times, August 17, 1946: 11.
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Building B, Classroom (1950); Building D, Classroom (1955); Building E, Classroom (1955); Building
G1, Classroom (1955); Building Q, Library (1955); and Building P, Gymnasium (1956).

The new auditorium building, Building R, was celebrated in the IHS yearbook as “modern in design—
facile in operation—overwhelming in innovation.” (Figure 11)*> A 1950 Sanborn Fire Insurance map
depicts the campus with many of the new buildings (Figure 12), and the 1951 school yearbook included
an image of Building C at that time (Figure 13). In 1954, renowned photographer Julius Shulman, who
worked closely with modernist architects, photographed the campus’ modern arcade and Building B at the
eastern portion of campus along S. Grevillea. Although not located within the Los Angeles Unified
School District, Shulman’s 1956 photo of this portion of IHS is included in the LAUSD Context Statement
as a representative example of a modern school plant of the period (Figures 14 and 15). The bleachers in
the new 1956 gymnasium (Building P) were featured in a Progressive Architecture magazine
advertisement with gymnasium architect Gogerty listed as designing and implementing the innovative
“power-operated gymstands” supplied by Wayne Iron Works of Pennsylvania.’® The Inglewood Public
Library’s collection includes a photograph of Building A taken in the 1960s (Figure 16). In 1965, a
rendering of the Music Building (Building S) was published in the Los Angeles Times as designed by
Gogerty and his partners at Porter, Gogerty, Meston & Associates (Figure 17). The cost was estimated at
$240,000 and the building was to be elevated on concrete columns to allow for band and music student
parking below.’” The building included band and choral rooms, practice rooms, a music library, drama
and piano rooms, and uniform and robe storage. An aerial photograph taken in 1965 depicts the campus
with the Mid-Century improvements (Figure 18).

% “Symphony to Mark Auditorium Opening,” Los Angeles Times, December 12, 1950: 38; and Inglewood High School Yearbook, The Green

and White, 1951, 2.

“Wayne Power Operated Gymstands” Progressive Architecture, August 1961, 161; and “Inglewood High Gym,” Los Angeles Times,
September 15, 1957: 172.

7 “Parking Area Provided Under Music Building,” Los Angeles Times, January 17, 1965: 129.

96
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IHSIHS
SOURCE: “Green and White '51,” IHS Yearbook, 1951, Cover.

Figure 11
Newly constructed Building R, Auditorium, 1951
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Figure 12

Sanborn map illustrating the campus, 1950
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SOURCE: “Green and White '51,” IHS Yearbook, 1951, 16.

Figure 13
Building C, Classrooms, 1951

SOURCE: © J. Paul Getty Trust, Julius Shulman Photography Archive, 1935-2009, 1956

Figure 14
Building B, Classroom (right) and entrance arcade with “Inglewood High School” signage (left), 1956
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SOURCE: UC Regents, 1956

Figure 15
Aerial view of campus in 1956
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Voadep o

SOURCE: “Inglewood High School, late 1960s,” Inglewood Public Library available at https://calisphere.org/item/ark:/13030/kt2g2nd2mh/.

Figure 16
Building A, Administration, c. 1960s

MUSIC UNIT—Under-the-building parking area is feature of music unit planned for Inglewood school.
SOURCE: “Music Unit,” The Los Angeles Times, January 17, 1965:17.
Figure 17
Rendering of Building S, Music Building, 1965
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SOURCE: UC Regents, 1968

Figure 18
Aerial view of campus in 1968

1980s and 1990s - A food service building (Building FS) was added to the far northwest portion of the
campus in 1987. Between 1991 and 1995, Buildings F2, H4, HS, and N were constructed which occurred
in conjunction with campus-wide renovations of existing buildings.
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Architectural Resources Survey and Architectural
Descriptions

ESA architectural historians conducted a historic architectural resources survey of the IHS on January 25,
2025. Detailed notes and digital photographs were taken, and the survey work utilized the survey
methodology of the State Office of Historic Preservation (OHP). Survey photographs are included in
Appendix C. IHS was documented on California Department of Parks and Recreation (DPR) 523 form
series (Appendix D).

Site

Inglewood High School, a public high school campus, is located at 231 S. Grevillea Avenue in the city of
Inglewood, Los Angeles County. The campus is bounded by W. Manchester Boulevard to the north, S.
Grevillea Avenue to the east, Kelso Street to the south, and commercial and residential development to
the west. The surrounding neighborhood includes the 1970s Inglewood Civic Center to the north;
Grevillea Art Park, multi-family housing, a commercial building and a church to the east; multi-family
housing and single-family residences which were constructed between the 1920s and the 1960s to the
south; and a combination of 1920s and 1930s single-family homes, and mid-century period multi-family
housing to the west. The Subject Property houses Inglewood High School, Inglewood Continuation High
School, and a District food services building.

Twenty-four buildings comprise the IHS campus. The earliest building on campus dates to 1925
(Building A), with one building constructed in the 1930s (Building I), seven buildings constructed in the
1940s (Buildings C, J, K, L, M, O, and R), eight buildings constructed in the 1950s (Buildings B, D, E,
F1, G1, H1-H3, Q and P), and three buildings constructed in the 1960s (Buildings G2, S, and X). These
20 buildings reflect the historic period for the property. Due to the incongruous nature of campus historic
period development from the 1920s through the 1960s, the campus does not reflect an established master-
plan campus type, as would have been expected of a high school campus designed during a single time
period. Later campus development efforts in the 1990s included four buildings (Buildings F2, H4, H5,
and N).

The campus features tennis courts and six basketball courts, located near the center of the property, with a
large playing field situated along the western boundary, which includes two baseball diamonds. Picnic
tables and umbrellas are located in the northeastern part of the campus, with another outdoor seating area
located south of this, further east. A gated parking area sits along W. Kelso Street. The campus is
enclosed by a continuous, non-original chain-link fence, with metal access gates located along W.
Manchester Boulevard and S. Grevillea Avenue. The primary pedestrian entrance onto campus is along S.
Grevillea Avenue and includes a mid-century arcade with Inglewood High School signage, a flagpole,
and brick planters. The Inglewood Continuation High School, which will not be evaluated as part of this
study due to age, includes paved recreational play areas.

The campus features concrete and asphalt-paved areas that serve as walkways, courtyard spaces, and play
areas, with some buildings equipped with expansive overhangs that cover paved pathways. The primary
landscaped areas include swaths of grass along S. Grevillea Avenue at the eastern edge of campus. There
are a few trees and shrubbery located within the campus.
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Building A, Administration,1925; renovation,1936

Building A, Administration is located in the northeastern portion of the Inglewood HS campus. Building
A is a one and two-story building over a raised basement constructed in 1925. It contains a two-story H-
shaped main portion, and a one-story rectangular wing that extends from the west elevation. The massing
is formal and generally symmetrical, with rectangular and curved volumes that project slightly from the
corners of the building. The building is brick masonry construction that was reinforced with a steel
continuous truss system, beams, and columns, and is sheathed in Gunite. It features a flat roof with a
raised parapet. The building is arranged into vertical bays divided by plaster reeded pilasters that rise
from wide concrete piers leading from the foundation level. Formerly, c. 1960s awning and fixed
windows were situated between pilasters in recessed channels, which have since been removed.
Horizontal accent moldings form the spandrels above the fenestration. The exterior is enlivened with cast
concrete and plaster zigzag and diamond motifs, tiered vertical line designs, dentil moldings, and a
geometric block cornice. A rounded clock in a square frame sits at the roofline in the southwest corner. At
the east elevation, shallow tiered vertical pilasters with incised vertical lines form an entrance surround
which contains a double-leaf metal door surmounted by an eight-light transom. Incised lettering above the
transom reads “Fine Arts Building.” Secondary entrances include double-leaf and single-leaf metal doors
on the north, west, and south elevations.

Noted exterior alterations following the 1930s retrofit include the replacement of doors and glazing in the
original window openings. These minor alterations occurred as part of a renovation by master architect
H.L. Gogerty, who designed the majority of the other buildings on the Inglewood H.S. campus.
Correspondence regarding the upgrades for Building A began in 1953; however, it is unclear whether any
of the changes were implemented in the 1950s or if the work commenced in 1960, the date of the plans on
file with the district. In addition to the window glazing that is shown in the 1960s plans by Gogerty, a
new door opening was added on the north elevation, along with a set of non-original concrete stairs that
were to serve as a loading area.” Wire glass skylights were also altered during the renovations by
Gogerty’s firm, and aerial photographs show that most of the original skylights have been covered or
removed. Visual inspection yielded that the original incised lettering over the north entrance, “Truth is
Beauty,” was replaced at an unknown date with the contemporary lettering: “Inglewood High School
Bldg A Administrative Offices.” A ramp was added to the southwest corner of the south elevation to meet
ADA and egress requirements at an unknown date. In 2025, the building’s 1960s era windows were
removed from the building. Few alterations have occurred to the exterior, and most, if not all, appear to be
generally compatible with the 1930s design and have been articulated sensitively by master architect
Gogerty. The stage area includes original 1925 and later 1933 designed elements, including a proscenium
arch, plaster pilasters, a series of steps, elaborate wood door surrounds, wood doors and metal hardware.
The first floor’s double-loaded corridor was reconfigured in 1960 to include the current wood paneling
and display cases, and metal staircase handrails were also added at this time.

% Inglewood High School District Files. A-163. Correspondence letters H.L. Gogerty and the District. 1953, District plans as
revised, H.L. Gogerty, 1962.
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Building A at IHS is listed in “The Living New Deal” national database referenced above by SurveyLA.
It is depicted on the website map as an extant resource with the following description:

The Fine Arts building at Inglewood High School in Inglewood, CA, was reconstructed in 1936 by
the Works Progress Administration (WPA) following damage incurred during the devastating 1933
Long Beach earthquake. Work crews removed brickwork to make the building more earthquake safe,
installed new columns and beams to carry vertical loads, built a new fireproof stairway, rearranged
windows to bring in more light, and updated the heating system.”

Building B, Classroom, 1950

Designed in a Mid-Century Modern style, Building B is a rectangular, one-story building. The building is
wood with reinforced board-form concrete walls, is partially sheathed with stucco and has a pitched flat
roof. The entrance doors are single-leaf metal doors (replacement). A flat canopy extends from the
roofline along the northeast corner and the west elevation. Fenestration includes horizontal bands of steel
industrial sash, awning, and fixed windows. Other features include metal vents, metal fire hose cases, and
concrete locker curbs and bays. Visual inspection reveals that the following alterations have occurred at
the exterior: the steel sash windows have been painted over, removed, or altered; the original metal and
wood doors have been replaced; metal lockers have been removed; and the original display cases on the
west elevation have been removed. The interior has since been renovated and features contemporary
finishes (in 1965, and possibly again in 1995).

Landscaped elements were designed in conjunction with Building B, as evidenced in the original building
plans. An entrance arcade with a metal canopy supported by aluminum columns and sliding metal gates
sits between Buildings B and C. Designed in conjunction with Building B according to original drawings,
the arcade includes “Inglewood High School” metal lettering attached to the top of the canopy. A metal
sunshade is situated in the northwest corner of Building C and extends across the walkway. Also included
in the plans for the building are geometric flagstone planters located on the campus side of the arcade, in
front of Buildings B and C, and a flagpole with a cast concrete base featuring a Native American
headdress and a cast metal medallion with a Native American bust relief. The medallion lettering reads
“Inglewood High School Class of 1950.” These campus features, designed as part of Building B, have
been painted over but remain extant. The arcade appears to be missing metal panels and may no longer be
operable as shown in the original plans.

Building C, Classroom, 1948-1949

Designed in a Mid-Century Modern style, Building C is a rectangular, one-story building. The building is
constructed of wood with reinforced concrete walls sheathed in stucco and features a pitched flat roof.
The entrance doors are single-leaf metal doors (replacement). A concrete and wood canopy extends from
the west elevation. Fenestration includes horizontal bands of steel industrial sash, awning, and fixed
windows. Other features include metal gable and foundation vents, and concrete locker curbs and bays.
Visual inspection reveals that the following alterations have occurred at the exterior: the steel sash
windows have been painted over, removed, or altered; the original metal and wood doors have been
replaced; and the metal lockers have been removed. Original display cases on the west elevation have also

9 The Living New Deal, “Inglewood High School: Fine Arts Building, Inglewood CA,” The Living New Deal website.
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been removed. The interior has since been renovated and includes contemporary finishes (possibly in
1995).

Building D, Classroom, 1955

Designed in a Mid-Century Modern style, Building D is a rectangular, one-story building. It is capped
with a flat roof, featuring low parapets at the south and north ends. A concrete and wood canopy extends
from the roof on the west and south elevations. The building is constructed of wood, reinforced with
concrete and steel, and is sheathed with stucco. The entrance doors appear to be non-original and consist
of single-leaf metal doors, and some have metal vents. Fenestration includes horizontal bands of steel
industrial sash, awning, and fixed windows. Other features include metal foundation vents, an intercom
box attached to the west elevation, and concrete locker curbs. In the courtyard in front of the east
elevation, sculptural concrete tables and benches are arranged on geometric concrete squares diagonally
on the grass. Original plans or permits were not located. However, based on visual inspection, the
following alterations appear to have occurred to the exterior: steel sash windows have been painted over,
removed, or altered, security bars have been added to some of the windows, the doors do not appear to be
original, and metal lockers have been removed. Renovations occurred in 1995, which may have included
the interior.

Building E, Classroom, 1955

Designed in a Mid-Century Modern style, Building E is a rectangular, one-story building. A one-story
portion extends from the west elevation and may be an addition. The main building portion includes a flat
roof with low parapets at the west and east ends. The building is wood with reinforced concrete and is
sheathed with stucco and vertical metal siding. The entrance doors appear to be non-original and consist
of single-leaf metal doors. Fenestration includes horizontal bands of steel industrial sash, awning, and
fixed windows. A green and white tile mosaic inlaid in the concrete walkway at the north elevation
contains a large green “I” and “Class of 56” lettering. A walk-up window with metal pipe railings forms a
waiting area labeled as the “Sentinel Spirit Store” at the north elevation. An intercom box and siren are
situated on the north elevation. Original plans or permits were not located. However, based on visual
inspection the following alterations appear to have occurred to the exterior: steel sash windows have been
painted over, removed, or altered, and security bars have been added to some of the windows. The doors
do not appear to be original. Renovations occurred in 1995, which may have included the interior.

Building F1, Classroom, 1955

Designed in a Mid-Century Modern style, Building F1 is a one-story building that is rectangular in plan. It
is capped with a flat roof. The building is wood with reinforced concrete walls and is sheathed with
stucco. The entrance doors appear to be non-original and consist of metal doors. Fenestration includes
horizontal bands of steel industrial sash, awning, and fixed windows. A metal sunshade extends below the
roof of the south elevation. Other features include a metal intercom box and metal attic vents. Original
plans or permits were not located. However, based on visual inspection the following alterations appear to
have occurred to the exterior: steel sash windows have been painted over, removed, or altered, including a
door or window wall arrangement in the southwest corner. The doors do not appear to be original.
Renovations occurred in 1995, which may have included the interior.
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Building G1, Classroom, 1955

Designed in a Mid-Century Modern style, Building G1 is a one-story building that is rectangular in plan.
It is capped with a flat roof and a concrete and wood canopy extends from the roof on the south elevation.
The building is wood with reinforced concrete walls and is sheathed with stucco. The entrance doors
appear to be non-original and consist of single-leaf metal doors. Fenestration includes horizontal bands of
steel industrial sash awning and fixed windows. Other features include an intercom box and concrete
locker curbs. Original plans or permits were not located. However, based on visual inspection the
following alterations appear to have occurred to the exterior: steel sash windows have been painted over,
removed, or altered, the doors do not appear to be original, and one door opening and frame on the north
elevation has been plastered over. The metal lockers have been removed. Renovations occurred in 1974
and 1995 which may have included the interior.

Building G2, Classroom, 1963

Designed in a Mid-Century Modern style, Building G2 is a one-story building that is rectangular in plan.
It is capped with a low-pitched gable roof with deep overhanging eaves. The building is constructed of
wood and is sheathed with stucco and non-original plywood. The entrance doors appear to be non-original
and consist of single-leaf metal doors. Fenestration includes horizontal bands of steel industrial sash,
awning, and fixed windows. Other features include metal gable vents with wood frames, concrete locker
curbs, and concrete stoops. Original plans or permits were not located. However, based on visual
inspection the following alterations appear to have occurred to the exterior: steel sash windows have been
painted over, removed, or altered, metal lockers have been removed, and the doors do not appear to be
original.

Building H1-H3, Classroom, 1955

Designed in a Mid-Century Modern style, Building H1-H3 is a one-story building that is rectangular in
plan. It is capped with a flat roof, featuring low parapets at the east and west ends. A concrete and wood
canopy extends from the roof on the south elevation. The building is wood with reinforced concrete walls
and is sheathed with stucco. The entrance doors appear to be non-original and consist of single-leaf metal
doors. Fenestration includes horizontal bands of steel industrial sash, awning, and fixed windows.
Original plans or permits were not located. However, based on visual inspection the following alterations
appear to have occurred to the exterior: steel sash windows have been painted over, removed, or altered,
and the doors do not appear to be original.

Building I, Classroom, 1936

Designed in a PWA Moderne style, Building I is a one-story structure with a rectangular plan,
characterized by formal symmetry and massing. The building is reinforced board-formed concrete
sheathed with stucco and has a flat roof with a low parapet. A metal coping border at the roofline
surmounts shallow square relief patterns at the entablature. Building I is divided into four bays by fluted
pilasters, with groupings of five fixed aluminum window assemblies that sit below horizontal speedline
banding. Each bay includes a curved cast-concrete window planter with geometric brackets and circular
medallion designs below the windows. The entrances on the west and east contain replacement metal
doors that sit recessed under a wood and metal canopy flanked by curved concrete walls, with a curved
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entrance porch and curved pony wall. The following alterations have occurred to the exterior: original
doors and transoms have been replaced, windows and transoms have been covered or painted over.

Building J, Classroom, 1941

Designed in a utilitarian style, Building J is a one-story building that is rectangular in plan. It is capped
with a flat roof over the main portion and features a curved roofline along the northern elevation, allowing
for a taller interior volume. The building is constructed of wood and concrete and is sheathed with stucco.
Replacement metal double-leaf doors are accessed by concrete steps with low pony walls at the west and
east elevations. Original divided light wood sash windows with transoms have been removed and
plastered over, with the exception of windows in the northwest corner. Other features include an intercom
on the exterior wall and metal foundation vents with metal hoods. This building was renovated in 1976,
1978, 1982, and 1995, and a few original features remain.

Building K, Shop, 1942

Designed in an industrial utilitarian style, Building K is a one-story building that is rectangular in plan. It
is capped with a high-pitched gable roof supported by a wood truss. The roof is punctuated by gabled
dormers with metal louvre vents. The building is of wood and concrete construction. It is sheathed with
stucco. Fenestration consists of industrial metal sash windows and clerestory metal sash industrial
windows. The entrance doors are single- and double-leaf metal doors, situated on the east elevation. A
wooden awning, supported by non-original metal posts, extends from the east elevation. The following
alterations have occurred to the exterior: original wood panel doors have been replaced with metal doors,
steel sash windows and glass have been removed or painted over, and the interior was renovated (possibly
in 1954 and 1995).

Building L, Auto Shop, 1949

Designed in an industrial, utilitarian style with elements of a daylight factory typology, Building L is a
one-story building generally rectangular in plan, featuring a square volume that projects from the
southwest corner. This volume includes a canopy supported by metal pipes. It is capped with a flat and
sawtooth roof and is supported by a steel truss. The building is constructed of wood and reinforced
concrete and sheathed in stucco. The entrance doors are single-leaf metal doors. Fenestration includes the
previously mentioned continuous skylights in the sawtooth roof, as well as continuous horizontal bands of
steel sash windows (awning and fixed) with projecting frames. There are two garage doors on the north
elevation: an original one with windows in the top portion and wood panels in the bottom, and a
replacement roll-up metal garage door. Building L included a tool room and office within the smaller one-
story room (overall volume extant), a cast stone wash sink (extant), two roll-up garage doors (one extant),
and an open space dedicated to the following: work area, engine area, machine area, and instruction area.
The following alterations have occurred to the exterior: an original multi-lite garage door has been
replaced with a metal roll-up garage door, select steel sash windows have been removed, painted, or
altered, and an entrance in the southwest corner has been enclosed. The interior was renovated (possibly
in 1995).
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Building M, Shop, 1948

Designed in an industrial, utilitarian style with elements of a daylight factory typology, Building M is a
one- and two-story building that is generally rectangular in plan. The building was designed by H.L.
Gogerty with Julian T. Stafford as the structural engineer. The one-story portion to the north, fronting
Manchester Boulevard, is capped with a flat and sawtooth roof with steel and wire glass continuous
skylights. The two-story portion on the south end of the building contains a flat composition roof. The
building is constructed with a steel frame and reinforced concrete. Concrete stairways with pipe metal
railings on the southwest and southeast corners lead to a covered walkway. The entrance doors on both
floors are double and single-leaf metal doors and are possibly replacements to the original kalamein
doors. Fenestration includes the previously mentioned continuous skylights in the sawtooth roof,
continuous horizontal bands of steel sash clerestory windows with projecting frames across the second
story, and continuous horizontal bands of steel sash windows with projecting frames that punctuate the
elevations of the first story. Metal cyclones for filtering sawdust particles are situated on the western
elevation, a remnant of the original use of the building as a woodworking shop. The following are
alterations to the exterior: some windows panes have been painted over, original wire glass shop display
windows on the first floor have been removed or covered, a few windows next to entrances on the second
floor have been removed or covered, and two roll-up garage doors have replaced original metal doors on
the first floor. The interior was renovated (possibly in 1995).

Building O, Boys Locker Room, 1948-1950

Designed in an industrial utilitarian style, Building O is a one and two-story building that is irregular in
plan. It is capped with a flat roof. The building is constructed of reinforced concrete and is sheathed with
stucco. The entrance doors are replacement single and double-leaf metal doors surmounted by original
glazed transoms. Fenestration features continuous horizontal bands of steel sash windows (awning and
fixed) with projecting frames, as well as steel skylights that punctuate the roof. The following alterations
have occurred to the exterior: steel sash windows have been painted or security bars added, half-glazed
doors have been replaced, and skylights have been covered or painted over.

Building P, Gymnasium, 1958

Designed in a Late Moderne style, Building P is a one and two-story building with a partial basement. It
is irregular in plan. The building is of reinforced concrete with tilt up walls that support a flat steel-framed
roof. The building is austere and visual interest is added with geometric volumes clad in stucco, geometric
patterns in concrete walls, and thin vertical piers that divide the exterior with horizontal bands of bezeled
steel sash windows with projecting frames. There are overhanging concrete canopies supported by metal
pipe railings in the northwest and northeast corner. Doors consist of double and single-leaf metal doors
and glazed transoms surmount some. The building was altered in 1986, which included the replacement
of the bleachers, and may have also been when the alteration of windows that had been painted over
occurred.

Building Q, Library, 1955

Designed in a Mid-Century Modern style, Building Q is a one- and two-story L-shaped building. The
one-story portion extends from the southwest corner. It is capped with a flat roof. The building is

Inglewood High School 61 ESA / D202400867.01
Historic Resources Assessment July 2025



Historic Resources Assessment

constructed of wood with reinforced concrete walls and is sheathed with stucco and vertical wood siding.
The primary east elevation is recessed under an overhanging roof and flanked by projecting side walls,
framing the elevation. The entrance doors appear to be non-original and consist of single and double-leaf
metal doors. Fenestration includes horizontal bands of industrial steel sash, awning, and fixed windows.
A concrete and wood canopy extends from the southeast corner and a portion of the primary east
elevation. A wooden clock that is missing the hands is incorporated into the vertical wood siding in the
southeast corner of the primary east elevation, and an original intercom box is also situated on the east
elevation. Original plans or permits were not located. However, based on visual inspection, the following
alterations appear to have occurred to the exterior: steel sash windows have been painted over, removed,
or altered, and the doors do not appear to be original. Renovations occurred in 1974 and 1995, which may
have included the interior.

Building R, Auditorium, 1949-1950

Designed in a Late Moderne style, Building R is a three-story building with a partial mezzanine and
partial basement. It is irregular in plan and contains one-story volumes that project from the main two-
story portion at the southeast, southwest, and northwest ends. The building is of reinforced concrete
construction with a steel-framed flat roof. At the primary east elevation, projecting geometric volumes
clad in smooth stucco and a curved portion with a curved canopy add visual interest to an otherwise
austere design. Fenestration includes horizontal bands of bezeled steel sash windows with projecting
frames. Cement steps lead to the main entrance, which fronts S. Grevillea and features plate glass doors
and transoms set within aluminum frames. Other features include a ticket window with a projecting frame
on the wall in the south corner of the entrance, metal vents in projecting frames, and geometric vents
punched out in the concrete walls. The building was altered in 1955, 1962, and 1995, which appear to
have included changes to the interior.

Building S, Music, 1965

Designed in a Mid-Century Modern style, Building S is a two-story building that is rectangular in plan
with a main portion that rises slightly above two projecting rectangular volumes attached to the north and
south elevations. The building is lifted on concrete pilotis with a parking lot situated under the building
and is attached to the west elevation of Building R. It is capped with a flat roof with a low parapet. The
building has reinforced concrete construction and is sheathed with stucco. The entrance doors appear to
be non-original and consist of single and double-leaf metal doors. The building is generally void of
fenestration, and where windows are present, they consist of industrial steel sash windows. Original plans
or permits were not located. However, based on visual inspection, the following alterations appear to have
occurred to the exterior: steel sash windows have been removed or altered, and a stairway on the
southeast corner has been filled in. Renovations occurred in 2001, which may have included the interior.

Building X, Adult Education, 1960

Designed in a Mid-Century Modern style, Building X is a one-story building that is rectangular in plan
and is attached to the southwest corner of Building R. It is capped with a flat roof with a low parapet at
the southeast corner. The building is constructed of wood with reinforced steel and is sheathed with
stucco and vertical metal siding. Fenestration includes steel industrial sash windows with transoms. Metal
muntins extend to the ground on the east elevation. The entrance doors appear to be original and consist
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of single-leaf metal doors. An original vertical metal louver next to the door on the west elevation is
original, according to plans. Aluminum lettering “Adult Education Building” is on the east elevation and
appears to have been moved from the original location on the south elevation. The following alterations
appear to have occurred to the exterior: steel sash windows have security bars over them, and the metal
doors may not be original.

Buildings Less Than 45 Years in Age

The following buildings do not meet the 45-years of age threshold at which buildings should be evaluated
as historic resources and therefore were not described above or evaluated: Building FS, Food Service
(1987); Building F2, Classroom (1991), Building H4, Classroom (1991), Building H5, Classroom (1991),
and Building N, Classroom (1991).
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Eligibility Assessment

As the IHS campus meets the California Office of Historic Preservation’s 45-year-old age threshold for
consideration as a potential historic resource, the property, with its 20 historic-period age buildings and
related site features, was evaluated collectively for historic significance as a historic district under
National Register criteria and California Register criteria. Additionally, ESA collectively evaluated a
grouping of 16 mid-20th-century classroom and support buildings that meet the 45-year-age threshold and
share architectural themes and periods of construction for individual significance under National Register
criteria and California Register criteria. Further, as part of this research, ESA determined that three
individual buildings on the IHS campus that meet the 45-year age threshold appear to reach a level of
individual significance for their historic associations and architecture and design. These buildings,
Building A, Building I, and Building M, were each formally individually evaluated as historic resources
under National Register criteria and California Register criteria. Further, shop Buildings L and M were
collectively evaluated as a small historic district under National Register criteria and California Register
criteria.

The IHS campus and Buildings A, I, L, and M, were evaluated using the following historical contexts and
themes:

e History of Inglewood: Settlement, Development and Growth (1822 - present);
o Inglewood Unified School District: Early History, Establishment and Expansion (1905 - present);

o Secondary School Education in Inglewood, CA, with the following sub-themes: Post—1933 Long
Beach Earthquake School Plants (1933—1945); Early Experiments in the Modern, Functionalist
School Plant (1933-1945); and The Postwar Modern Functionalist School Plant (1945-1969);

e Architecture and Engineering, with the following sub-themes: Public Works Administration Moderne
Style (1929-1948) and Late Moderne Style (1937-1960); Mid-Century Modernism/Regional
Modernism (1945-1960); and Industrial Utilitarian subthemes: Daylight Factory (1910-1940) and
Carpentry Shop (1900-1965).

As the City of Inglewood does not have developed historic context statements or eligibility standards for
evaluation, the adjacent City of Los Angeles framework outlined in SurveyLLA and the LAUSD Historic
Context Statement framework are appropriate to apply as the IHS campus reflects the above contexts,
themes, subthemes, and property types.

Significance Evaluations
IHS Campus District Evaluation

ESA evaluated the IHS campus, with its 20 historic period structures and associated campus landscape for
potential eligibility for listing in the National Register and California Register as a historic district. IHS
was evaluated against the following historical and architectural themes: (1) History of Inglewood:
Settlement, Development and Growth (1822—present), (2) Inglewood Unified School District: Early
History, Establishment and Expansion (1905—present), (3) Post-1933 Long Beach Earthquake School
Plants (1933-1945); (4) Early Modern Functionalist School Plants (1933-1945); and (5) Postwar Modern
Functionalist School Plants (1945-1969).
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Criterion A/1: Events

The land that would become the IHS campus was formerly agrarian land, and a robust agricultural
industry characterized Inglewood in the late 19th century up through the first three decades of the 20th
century. IHS began in 1907 with a single classroom building that contained all of the school’s operations.
The campus would expand over the next 20+ years to include a stately grouping of Classical Revival
structures oriented along S. Grevillea Avenue. The surrounding agricultural industry was so prevalent that
IHS had a working farm located half a mile away from the main campus that offered students husbandry
and farming training. Today, no remnants of the school’s early agricultural history are evident on the
campus. The farm closed by the 1930s, at a time when new defense and aerospace industries were starting
up, and no association to this agricultural history remains in the built environment of IHS. These local
industry shifts were reflected in changes to the campus and its curriculum, which offered relevant training
opportunities for students entering the workforce before, during, and shortly after World War II. As
Inglewood became increasingly industrialized in the mid-20th century, IHS responded to the emerging
aerospace and aviation industries, as well as related defense industries, by offering relevant training
programs and coursework on campus, which was open to both IHS students and community members.
Two shop buildings (Buildings L and M) were constructed to accommodate these larger industrial
changes, however they do not collectively form a historic district reflective of the wartime and postwar
shift in curriculum programming.

The campus as a whole does not have historic associations with the Post 1933 Long Beach patterns of
development, as only one remaining building was retrofitted during this period (Building A), and one new
building (Building I) was constructed as part of wider-reaching federally funded Great Depression era
programming. Following World War II, a substantial yet discontiguous construction campaign to
accommodate higher enrollment expanded the campus largely to its present configuration. During this
time, many low-scale, utilitarian school buildings were added to the campus as a means of infilling the
space formerly occupied by the early Classical Revival school buildings. The mid-century construction
was not reflective of a cohesive pattern of development at the campus.

Further, the Inglewood Union High School District formed in 1905, and the first building on the IHS
campus was built in 1907. This non-extant building was the only campus building for several years, until
the campus expanded in the mid-1920s around the time when the El Segundo community withdrew from
the district, forming its own. The later, larger period of expansion at IHS was undertaken following World
War I, around the time that the city’s two high schools, Inglewood and Morningside, formed the
Inglewood Unified School District as it exists today. The formation of [USD may have been a response to
the city’s population boom, a pattern which similarly occurred in the City of Los Angeles and across the
country following the war. Inglewood itself underwent a significant transformation during this time, from
a largely agricultural-based economy to one supported heavily by industrial activities. This shift brought
more workers and their families into Inglewood at mid-century. Yet despite these vast changes in
Inglewood, the IHS campus was not developed as a cohesive ensemble of buildings with a shared goal
over time, but rather a more disjointed effort. In this, research did not indicate that the buildings that
comprise the IHS campus collectively demonstrate the history of the IUSD or of the City due to numerous
demolition and infill campaigns over time. As such, the campus does not rise to a necessary level of
significance as a collection of 20" century era school buildings in Inglewood worthy of consideration as a
historic district. Additionally, research did not indicate that this campus was the site of a significant event.
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For the reasons listed above, IHS does not qualify as a historic district under Criteria A/1 for its early
associations with Inglewood’s settlement, growth or development history.

Criterion B/2: Significant Persons

Research did not indicate that the campus was associated with a person or people of significance in the
community, state, or nation. As such, IHS does not appear eligible for the National Register or California
Register as a historic district under Criterion B/2.

Criterion C/3: Design/Construction

The IHS campus was developed over nearly nine decades, with currently extant buildings constructed
between 1925 (with a retrofit and stylistic transformation in 1934), the 1940s through the 1960s, the
1980s, and the 1990s. As such, the campus is reviewed under three different school plant contexts, which
are reflective of the various periods of development of the extant school buildings.

The IHS campus was initially constructed in 1907, and additional buildings were constructed throughout
the early decades of the 20™ century. In 1933, the Long Beach Earthquake caused substantial damage to
the campus, resulting in the eventual demolition of several structures and the renovation/retrofit of others.
As part of recovery efforts, the only early building still extant today is Building A, which was constructed
in 1925 and later underwent renovation modifications designed by architect T. C. Kistner, refashioning
the former Classical Revival building in the PWA Moderme style. Building I, designed by Kistner, was
added to the campus in 1936 in the PWA Moderne style. As such, the two buildings that remain from the
Post-1933 Long Beach Earthquake School Plant theme are Building A and Building 1. Collectively, these
two buildings do not reflect a unified historic district as they do not represent the overarching
characteristics of a Post-1933 Long Beach Earthquake School plant campus in southern California. As
such, the IHS campus is not eligible as a historic district under the Post-1933 Long Beach Earthquake
School Plant theme.

Buildings J and K, designed by architect John C. Austin in 1941, were constructed on the campus in a
utilitarian style with limited characteristics from the principles of the Early Modern Functionalist School
of Plant design. These two buildings were added to the westernmost extent of campus as infill to
accommodate more classroom functions, just eight years after the earthquake, at a time when the campus
still contained most of its early Classical Revival structures oriented east along S. Grevillea Avenue. As
such, buildings J and K do not reflect a cohesive historic district at the IHS campus as they do not
embody the principles of the Early Modern Functionalist School Plants or pre-war campus planning
philosophies.

Architect H. L. Gogerty is credited with the designs of fourteen (14) buildings constructed at the campus
following World War 11, reflective of the postwar need for more educational facilities, which spanned
from 1945 to 1965 at IHS. Architect Gogerty was likely involved in the creation of a larger plan for IHS
following World War I, as he was a prominent architect specializing in the design of school campuses in
Southern California during this period. However, no mid-century master plan was located for [HS. The
pattern of infill during the postwar years did not appear to follow a standardized, cohesive school plant
layout as identified in the LAUSD Historic Context Statement. The school’s mid-century development
served to infill vacant areas of campus following the piecemeal demolition of earlier 20™-century
buildings. This development appeared to be reactionary and not the result of deliberate campus planning
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that would have been common for new suburban campuses that were entirely designed and constructed at
once. While the eastern portion of campus reflects limited character-defining features of a Postwar
Modern, Functionalist School Plant, including a lack of formality and monumentality, low-scale massing,
and modular design, taken together with the buildings from earlier periods of development, the campus
does not reflect a unified school plant typology. Specifically, the campus does not reflect notable unified
campus design principles of a Postwar Modern, Functionalist School Plant, including a strong geometric
ordering of buildings and outdoor spaces, a shared clear path of travel/circulation, function-driven site
design, or purposeful indoor-outdoor integration. As such, the campus is not eligible as a historic district
under the Postwar Modern Functionalist School Plant theme.

However, two shop buildings (Buildings L and M) were evaluated and collectively form a historic district
as unique examples of mid-20th century industrial utilitarian shops as applied to a public school campus,
included below.

The campus reflects various periods of development and stylistic contributions as devised by three master
architects. The extant buildings and site features represent a collection of piecemeal architecture without a
unified layout, cohesive aesthetic, or consistently designed features across the campus. This eclectic
character, demonstrated by various periods of construction and architectural styles, has rendered a non-
cohesive campus that does not express the principles or values associated with an early or a mid-century
school plant.

For the reasons listed above, IHS does not qualify as a historic district under Criteria C/3 as an
exemplification of southern California design ideals for type of school planning under the context of
institutional architecture/educational facilities in the Los Angeles area.

Criterion D/4: Data Potential

IHS is not likely to yield any information important to prehistory or history. Therefore, IHS does not meet
the above criterion.

Integrity Analysis

An integrity evaluation was not completed for the campus as a whole since it was not found to be eligible
under Criterion A/1-D/4.

Individual Building Evaluations — Ineligible

Classroom Buildings B, C, D, E, F1, G1, G2, H1-3 and Support Buildings O,
QP,R, Sand X

The following 14 historic-period buildings on the IHS campus with construction dates from 1948 to 1965
were evaluated for individual significance: classroom Buildings B, C, D, E, F1, G1, G2, H1-3 and support
Buildings O, Q, P, R, S and X. These buildings were constructed over roughly 17 years to infill areas of
the campus that were demolished over time due to deteriorating conditions or to address the growing
school’s needs. Based on their similar typology and mid-century construction dates, they have been
grouped as a batch for purposes of this evaluation. As discussed above in the IHS Historic District
evaluation, none of these 14 structures possess significant historic associations with the IUSD or with the
City of Inglewood. They do not date to the school's original founding or construction campaign, and
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while they were built in response to the mid-20th-century post-WW II development, there are no specific
associations with this period of suburban growth in Inglewood or the rise of the military-industrial
complex in the greater metropolitan Los Angeles area. They are not associated with important persons,
notable educators or any significant members of the Inglewood community. These 14 structures reflect
standard Southern California school buildings of the period and are not distinguishable for their
architectural style or design, despite their connection to master architect H. L. Gogerty. This grouping is
not significant from an architectural perspective for its simplified application of Mid-Century Modern
design elements, nor does the grouping reflect a single particular school plan type. Unlike Buildings A, I,
L, and M, which are all important examples of an architectural style or building typology, the grouping of
14 buildings are somewhat generic and simplified school structures built during the post war era. As such,
classroom Buildings B, C, D, E, F1, G1, G2, H1-3 and support Buildings O, Q, P, R, S and X are not
eligible for the NRHP or CRHR as individual historic resources under Criteria A/1, B/2, or C/3.

Building J

Classroom Building J is one-story structure constructed in 1941. Master architect John C. Austin designed
the vernacular interwar classroom building in a utilitarian style. Unlike Building I, which is evaluated
individually below, Building J is not associated with any significant activities, development campaigns,
or programs at the campus, within the [USD, or within the City of Inglewood. Building J is not associated
with any notable persons or groups. Further, the nondescript school building lacks notable character-
defining features of a particular style, unlike Building L. As such, Building J is ineligible as an individual
historic resource under Criteria A/1, B/2, or C/3.

Building K

Shop Building K was constructed as a one-story shop building in 1941. Originally built for metal work,
the building was later used for home economics classes. Master architect John C. Austin designed the
building in a utilitarian style. Unlike Buildings L. and M, which were similarly built for shop purposes,
Building K does not possess important historic associations with significant activities, development
campaigns, or programming at the campus, the District, or within the City. Building K is not associated
with any notable persons or groups. Additionally, the vernacular wood-framed building, which includes a
hipped roof and is elongated in plan, is a simple, utilitarian building and does not rise to a level of
significance for its architecture or design. As such, Building K is ineligible as an individual historic
resource under Criteria A/1, B/2, or C/3.

Individual Building Evaluations - Eligible

ESA evaluated three buildings that rose to a level of discrete significance for historic associations with
events or design, as individual historic resources. As a result of research, survey, and analysis, Building
A, Administration; Building I, Classroom; and Building M, Shop, are recommended eligible as individual
resources as presented below. Further, ESA evaluated a grouping of two buildings that rose to a level of
discrete significance for design, as a historic district. Buildings L, Shop and Building M, Shop are
recommended eligible as contributors to the potential IHS Industrial Shop Historic District as presented
below.
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Building A, Administration

Building A was evaluated against the following historical and architectural themes: (1) History of
Inglewood: Settlement, Development and Growth (1822—present), (2) Inglewood Unified School District:
Early History, Establishment and Expansion (1905—present), (3) Post-1933 Long Beach Earthquake
School Plants (1933-1945); and (4) Public Works Administration Moderne Style (1929-1948).

Criterion A/1: Events

Building A is a two-story administration building located in the northeastern corner of the IHS campus.
Initially constructed in 1925 in the Classical Revival style designed by architect George A. Howard Jr.,
the building was damaged in the 1933 Long Beach Earthquake. The resulting Field Act mandated seismic
safety standards for Southern California schools, which led to the retrofit and renovation of campus
masonry buildings. During this time, Building A was transformed into the fashionable PWA Moderne
style. Building A represents a significant milestone in the City of Inglewood’s institutional history and the
history of the Inglewood Unified School District, particularly in the context of implementing new school
safety standards. The building is associated with education in Inglewood and the impact of the Field Act
following the 1933 Long Beach Earthquake.

Master architect T. C. Kistner and master engineer William T. Wright were responsible for the retrofitting
plans and architectural design of the building in 1934. The PWA Moderne style was popular during the
Great Depression and was articulated on buildings developed by government relief projects. During this
period the government created jobs for architects, designers, builders, and laborers by putting them to
work on new government, civic, and institutional buildings including post offices, train stations, public
schools, museums, bridges, and dams throughout the United States. WPA funding was provided for the
seismic reinforcements and the transformation of Building A into the PWA Moderne style. SERA and
CWA programs were utilized for all labor on Building A except for the structural work, thus providing
income to many unemployed skilled and unskilled workers during the Great Depression. In this, Building
A is directly associated with WPA programs and activities including PWA funding and labor-intensive
government construction programs of the 1930s.

As such, Building A appears to be eligible as an individual resource on the National Register at the local
level of significance, and the California Register under Criterion A/1 as a good example of institutional
architecture in Inglewood following the 1933 Long Beach Earthquake which resulted from Federal relief
effort programs in Southern California.

Criterion B/2: Significant Persons

Based upon the Criterion B/2: Significant Persons, research did not indicate that Building A was
associated with a person or people of significance in the community, state, or nation. As such, Building A
does not appear eligible for the National Register or California Register under Criterion B/2.

Criterion C/3: Design/Construction

As described above, Building A was constructed in 1925 in the Classical Revival style designed by
architect George A. Howard Jr. The building was damaged in the 1933 Long Beach Earthquake, and the
Field Act mandated seismic safety standards for Southern California schools. This led to a retrofit and
renovation of the masonry buildings on the IHS campus. Master architect T. C. Kistner, and master
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engineer William T. Wright, were responsible for retrofitting the masonry campus buildings in 1934. The
fine arts building, now Building A, Administration, was transformed from the Classical Revival style to
the PWA Moderne style by Kistner’s innovative design. The PWA Moderne style reflects a greater use of
conservative and classical elements with a distinct monumental feel. PWA Moderne style design features
commonly applied to institutional and civic architecture were considered modern and progressive, and
included specifically engineered elements to withstand seismic activity after the Long Beach earthquake
of 1933, as required by the Field Act. The style, which includes Art Deco and Streamline motifs, gave
schools in the 1930s in Southern California a contemporary, stylized yet formal appearance. Today,
Building A is the only remaining example on the IHS campus of a post-earthquake retrofit of a masonry
building. As such, Building A embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, and construction
method, and is an excellent example of a PWA Moderne-style institutional building that underwent
retrofitting following the 1933 Long Beach Earthquake in Inglewood.

Extensive extant character-defining features of the PWA Moderne style incorporated in Kistner’s
rehabilitation design for Building A include: formal symmetry and massing with curved and rectangular
volumes, brick masonry construction with reinforced steel trusses, beams and columns, gunite sheathing,
a flat roof with a raised parapet, plaster reeded pilasters on wide concrete piers, recessed window channels
with horizontal line spandrels, cast concrete and plaster zigzag and diamond motifs, tiered vertical line
accents, dentil moldings, a geometric block cornice, a stylized clock at the roofline, and incised lettering
above the main entrance door that reads “Fine Arts Building.”

Building A represents a significant example in master architect T.C. Kistner’s body of work, as it
articulates a creative, modern, and seismic solution applied to an existing masonry building following the
1933 earthquake and subsequent Field Act requirements. As part of this process, four inches of brickwork
were removed and replaced with gunite, new columns and beams were installed for reinforcement,
fireproof stairways were introduced, roof trusses were reinforced, and new windows were installed for
improved lighting. In 1936, the retrofit and transformation of Building A was featured in Architect and
Engineer magazine in an article written by the project structural engineer William T. Wright. The
building was described as a national example of how an existing building was successfully retrofitted
after an earthquake to strengthen and reinforce it for future use. Building A was further noted for a
dramatic and favorable stylistic transformation from the Classical Revival style to the PWA Moderne
style.

As such, Building A appears to be eligible as an individual resource on the National Register at the local
level and the California Register under Criterion C/3 an excellent example of a PWA Moderne-style
institutional building in Inglewood and as an example of master architect T. C. Kistner’s body of work.
The period of significance is 1936, the date of the retrofit construction completion.

Criterion D/4: Data Potential

Building A is not likely to yield any information important to prehistory or history. Therefore, Building A
does not meet the above criterion.

Integrity Analysis
Building A underwent a substantial rehabilitation in the 1930s and has since had tenant improvements
over the years. Its period of significance is 1936, which includes modifications made to it since the 1933
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earthquake, which is reflected in its significant associations. In 2025, the mid-century era windows were
removed from the building, while the early wood window frames remain. The building continues to
convey its significance and association with the WPA programs, a Post-1933 Earthquake design and
retrofit, and as an excellent example of a PWA Moderne-style school building. It therefore retains the
majority of the aspects of integrity.

Location

Building A retains integrity of location. The subject building has not been moved from its original site
since its construction in 1925 and was not moved during the 1936 retrofit and rehabilitation.

Design

Building A largely retains integrity of design. The subject building retains its form, massing, and design
intent from its 1936 period of significance. While there have been minor modifications to the exterior of
the building, including the replacement of original windows and doors within the original openings, this is
a minor alteration. A ramp and stairs on two elevations were added for ADA requirements and egress
however these are also relatively minor and reversible. The second floor’s floor plan remains intact from
the 1930s period; however, in 1960, the first floor underwent limited reprogramming to include the
present double-loaded corridor and glass display cases. The original fenestration patterns and openings
remain intact, and the overall form, structure, and style (including pilasters, plaster and cast-concrete
decorative features) remain from the 1930s PWA Moderne building. The later mid-century windows have
since been removed while the early wood frames remain.

Setting

Building A retains integrity of setting. The early 1900s improvements to the neighborhood included the
original THS building and some adjacent single-family residences from that era. The IHS campus
continued to be developed with new construction throughout the 1920s, as additional single-family
residences were built in the surrounding neighborhood. An extant greenbelt east of Building A along S.
Grevillea Avenue appears on 1920s aerials and today contains a relocated WPA mural. The mural was
saved from demolition, and it corresponds with the WPA association of Building A. The changing setting,
including infill from mid-century through to the present, follows the development patterns common to
Greater Los Angeles neighborhoods, which have not eroded the historic setting of Building A. The
campus itself has undergone several periods of redevelopment since its inception in the early 1900s and
represents a typical pattern of modernization for a school campus. Yet, Building A has remained an
important component of the campus with its prominent orientation at the corner of S. Grevillea Avenue
and Manchester Avenue and serves as a historic anchor for the early setting of the neighborhood.

Materials

Building A retains the majority of its historic materials from the period of significance of 1936. Some of
the subject building’s historic materials have been removed and replaced, such as steel industrial sash
windows, which were replaced with contemporary windows. Exterior doors from the period of
significance have been replaced with modern metal doors. Overall, most historic materials remain,
including gunite facing, and decorative details of plaster and cast-concrete. The contemporary windows
and doors in the original openings appear to be mostly compatible with the historic materials that remain.
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Workmanship

Building A retains integrity of workmanship. As discussed above, the building retains the majority of its
original materials. These materials are still extant and therefore continue to exhibit their original
workmanship, which reflects a skillful “facelift” of a Classical Revival style building to the PWA
Moderne style. Workmanship is reflected in the reeded pilasters, the application of gunite, and the use of
plaster and cast concrete for ornamentation and vertical door surrounds, creating a masterful PWA
Moderne building. While some modifications have been made, the building continues to convey physical
evidence of aesthetic and technological principles from its 1936 period of significance.

Feeling

Building A retains integrity of feeling. The building retains integrity of location, design, materials, and
workmanship and is therefore still able to convey the feeling of a 1930s PWA Moderne building through
its physical appearance. The building overall retains most of its essential and distinctive features and
appearance through its architectural forms and details.

Association

Building A retains integrity of association. The building retains integrity of location, design, materials,
workmanship, and feeling. Taken together, these aspects of integrity convey the building’s associations
with school design and the impact of the Field Act following the 1933 Long Beach Earthquake, and the
subsequent modern transformation of Building A from a Classical Revival to a PWA Moderne-style
building, and WPA programs and construction methods of the 1930s.

Building |, Classroom

Building [ was evaluated against the following historical and architectural themes: (1) History of
Inglewood: Settlement, Development and Growth (1822—present), (2) Inglewood Unified School District:
History, Establishment and Expansion (1905—present), (3) Post-1933 Long Beach Earthquake School
Plants (1933-1945); and (4) Public Works Administration Moderne Style (1929-1948).

Criterion A/1: Events

Building I is a one-story classroom building situated in the central southern portion of the IHS campus.
Constructed in 1936, the building was designed in the PWA Moderne style according to plans drawn up
by master architect T.C. Kistner and master engineer William T. Wright. Following the 1933 Long Beach
Earthquake, the Field Act mandated seismic safety standards for schools in Southern California, resulting
in specific design principles and review processes for institutional buildings. Building I exemplifies the
implementation of innovative mandated school building safety standards, as mandated by the Field Act,
and the progressive PWA Moderne style of the 1930s. Building I is directly associated with Federal Great
Depression-era programs and activities, including PWA funding and labor, which reflect a unique period
in United States history. Building I is one of two extant examples of PWA Moderne style architecture on
campus, and it is a good example of post-earthquake Field Act standards as applied to a new building on a
high school campus.

The building is associated with educational development in Inglewood during the Great Depression as it
was funded and constructed by Federal relief programs. As such, Building I appears to be eligible for the
National Register at the local level of significance and the California Register under Criterion A/1.
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Criterion B/2: Significant Persons

Research did not indicate that Building I was associated with a person or people of significance in the
community, state, or nation. As such, Building I does not appear eligible for the National Register or
California Register under Criterion B/2.

Criterion C/3: Design/Construction

Building [ was constructed in 1936 by designs to by T.C. Kistner who was hired to retrofit the masonry
buildings on campus, and to design new Building I, after the 1933 earthquake. Building I is a modest
adaptation of the contemporary PWA Moderne style. The PWA Moderne style was popular during the
Great Depression and was frequently used on buildings constructed as part of government relief projects.
Building I retains the majority of its character-defining features from its original date of construction
including formal symmetry and massing, stucco sheathing, board-form concrete, a flat roof with a raised
parapet, reeded pilasters, recessed window channels with horizontal line spandrels, curved concrete
window planters with circular medallion designs, and curved concrete walls with concrete low piers
framing the entrances. As such, Building I embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, and
method of construction as a good example of the PWA Moderne-style as applied to an institutional
building in Inglewood.

Further, Building I represents a modest version of the stylization and features that master architect Kistner
designed for the monumental retrofit of Building A. During the early decades of the 20th century, Kistner
was known for his designs of hundreds of schools, public buildings, and military bases in Southern
California. Building I appears to be significant as an example of the master architects’ work during the
post-1933 Long Beach Earthquake school design period as articulated on a compact, stand-alone, one-
story classroom.

As such, Building I appears to be eligible as an individual resource for the National Register at the local
level of significance and the California Register under Criterion C/3 for as a good example of the PWA
Moderne style as applied to a school building, and as a good example of master architect T. C. Kistner’s
work. The period of significance is 1936, the date of construction.

Criterion D/4: Data Potential

Building I is not likely to yield any information important to prehistory or history. Therefore, Building I
does not meet the above criterion.

Integrity Analysis
No major alterations have been made to Building I and it retains all aspects of integrity. The building
continues to convey its significance as an excellent example of a modest PWA Moderne-style classroom.

Location

Building I retains integrity of location. The subject building has not been moved from its original site
since its construction in 1936.

Design
Building I retains integrity of design. The subject building retains its original plan, form, massing, and
design intent from its 1936 period of significance. While there have been minor modifications to the
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